2007

Larry J. Coet Chevrolet, Pontiac, Buick, Inc. v.
Danny R. Labrum, Labrum Chevrolet, Pontiac,
Buick, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Issue 1: Did the trial court err in granting Appellee's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, precluding Appellant from an award of attorneys' fees as provided in the parties' Asset Purchase Agreement, whereby the Appellee acquired a motor vehicle dealership located in Heber City, Utah?

Standard of Review: On appeal, the appellate court reviews the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. See Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 855 P.2d 231, 233 (Utah 1993). Whether a party is entitled to summary judgment presents a question of law, the appellate court grants no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions and reviews them for correctness. See Higgins 855 P.2d at 235; Stangl v. Ernst Home Center, 948 P.2d 356, 360 (Utah Ct. App. 1997). Whether attorney fees are recoverable is a question of law, which we review for correctness. Bonneville Distributing Co. v. Green River Development Associates, Inc., 2007 UT App 175, ¶ 19, --- P.3d ----, 2007 WL 1500822 (quoting R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook, 2002 UT 11, ¶ 16, 40 P.3d 1119); See Jensen v. Sawyers, 2005 UT 81, ¶ 127, 130 P.3d 325.

Issue 2: Did the trial court err in granting Appellee's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, precluding Appellant from receiving applicable pre-judgment interest on the

\$59,384.79 award (such award determined by the consensus of the Accounting Team) as provided by statute?

Standard of Review: On appeal, the appellate court reviews the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. See Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 855 P.2d 231, 233 (Utah 1993). Whether a party is entitled to summary judgment presents a question of law, the appellate court grants no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions and reviews them for correctness. See Higgins, 855 P.2d at 235; Stangl v. Ernst Home Center, 948 P.2d 356, 360 (Utah Ct. App. 1997).

Issue 3: Did the trial court err in granting Appellee an award of attorneys' fees at the end of trial as a result of the trial court concluding that the Appellee was the prevailing party?

Standard of Review: Whether a party is the prevailing party in an action is a decision left to the sound discretion of the trial court and reviewed for an abuse of discretion. See Carlson Distributing Company v. Salt Lake Brewing Co, 2004 UT App 227, ¶ 16, 95 P.3d 1171. No deference is given to a trial court's legal conclusions which are reviewed for correctness. See Wilcox v. CSX Corp., 2003 UT 21 ¶ 6, 70 P.3d 85; Springville Citizens for a Better Community v. City of Springville, 1999 UT 25 ¶ 22, 979 P.2d 332. Whether attorney fees are recoverable is a question of law, which we review for correctness. Bonneville Distributing Co. v. Green River Development Associates, Inc., 2007 UT App 175, ¶ 19, --- P.3d ----, 2007 WL 1500822 (quoting R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook, 2002 UT 11, ¶ 16, 40 P.3d 1119).

Issue 4: Did the trial court err in determining the amount of damages to award Appellee at the end of the bench trial as a result of the trial court concluding the evidence supported the amount for the 1991 Ford pick-up and obsolete used parts issues?

Standard of Review: These issues present mixed questions of law and fact. “We uphold [the] lower court's findings of fact unless the evidence supporting them is so lacking that we must conclude the finding[s are] ‘clearly erroneous.’” Chang v. Soldier Summit Dev., 2003 UT App 415, ¶ 12, 82 P.3d 203 (quoting Jefferies v. Stubbs, 970 P.2d 1234, 1244 (Utah 1998)). “ ‘In contrast, we review [the] trial court's conclusions as to the legal effect of a given set of found facts for correctness.’” Id. (quoting Stubbs, 970 P.2d at 1244). Bonneville Distributing Co. v. Green River Development Associates, Inc., 2007 UT App 175, ¶ 18, --- P.3d ----, 2007 WL 1500822.

LIST OF STATUTES DETERMINATIVE OF THE APPEAL

UTAH CODE ANN. §15-1-1 and §15-1-4.

STATEMENT OF CASE

This appeal arises from an order to a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment against Coet, entered on September 2, 2005, and a final Judgment and Order against Coet and for Labrum by the Honorable Derek P. Pullan of the Fourth Judicial District Court of Wasatch County, State of Utah, entered on December 1, 2006.

In August 2001, Coet of Coet Chevrolet entered into an Asset Sale Agreement with Labrum for Labrum to purchase certain assets of Coet Chevrolet. Labrum contracted to buy

the new vehicle inventory, the used vehicle inventory, supplies, and the parts and accessories inventory, all furniture, fixtures, tools, equipment, intangibles, and the real estate of Coet Chevrolet. Labrum performed due diligence prior to the closing of the sale, which included an individualized physical inventory of the parts and a detailed assessment of the new and used cars in Coet's inventories as of the date of closing, November 14, 2001.

The formal closing regarding the purchase of the Chevrolet dealership occurred on or about November 14, 2001. The day following the closing (November 15, 2001), Labrum represented to Coet that a deficiency in the new motor vehicle inventory and in the used motor vehicle inventory existed and demanded a return of a portion of the purchase price. Whereupon, Coet presented two checks totaling \$68,733.31 to Labrum. Soon after the payment of the checks from Coet to Labrum the parties experienced additional disputes regarding other areas of the sale.

On or about November 13, 2003, Coet filed suit. On or about December 4, 2003, Labrum answered and counterclaimed against Coet. On January 20, 2005, under the order, direction, and supervision of the trial judge, the parties agreed that a team of accountants (one accountant selected by Coet and one selected by Labrum) would attempt to resolve specifically designated accounting issues regarding disputed aspects of the sale of the dealership. The parties entered into a Stipulated Case Management Order, stipulating that the accounting issues between the parties if resolved by unanimous agreement of the accounting team, would resolve such accounting issues, leaving only unresolved accounting

issues and all legal issues for resolution by the trial court. Additionally, the parties entered into an Accountants' Evaluation Agreement. In the Accountants' Evaluation Agreement, the parties set out the terms and specific areas for the accountants to attempt to resolve. The issues and amount of attorneys' fees and pre-judgment interest were not included in the explicit areas of consideration for the accountants' determination. Moreover, the Accountants' Evaluation Agreement contained a broad release of claims and claim preclusion provisions. The accountants issued a letter of understanding concerning their evaluation of designated accounting claims, resulting in the payment of \$59,384.79 from Labrum to Coet ("Accountants' Findings"). Labrum paid the amount of \$59,384.79 on or about May 12, 2005. Labrum's payment was approximately 42 months after Coet paid Labrum the demanded \$68,733.31 the day after the closing of the purchase of the dealership. The accountants did not attempt to make a determination regarding attorneys' fees or pre-judgment interest on the amount they awarded Coet, nor were they capable of ascertaining the legal standard for the award of attorneys' fees.

On or about September 2, 2005, the trial court granted Labrum's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment dismissing Coet's claims for attorneys' fees provided in the Asset Sale Agreement and pre-judgment interest allowed by Utah statute. The trial court determined in its Order, prepared by Labrum, that Coet's claims for attorneys' fees and pre-judgment interest were released and waived under Section Nine of the Accountants' Evaluation Agreement upon Labrum's payment to Coet of the amount the Accounting Team determined

was owed. The remaining unresolved issues from the pleadings filed by the parties were litigated during a one day trial on or about August 8, 2006, before Fourth District Judge, Judge Pullan. At the close of oral argument, the trial court announced from the bench that all of Coet's remaining claims against Labrum were dismissed with prejudice and that Labrum was entitled to judgment against Coet in the amount of \$11,455.26, which represented "obsolete parts." Further, the trial court announced that its prevailing party decision would be made "in light of prior settlement of some claims and the Court's judgment entered today." Both parties moved for attorneys' fees. The Court denied Coet's Motion and granted Labrum's in the amount of \$28,550.00. The trial court awarded Labrum's attorneys' fees based upon its determination that Labrum was the prevailing party in that Labrum prevailed on the remaining causes of action litigated at trial and did not consider the amount awarded to Coet by the Accounting Team. Coet paid the judgment of \$40,005.26 (the amount for the parts inventory and the prevailing party attorneys' fees).

FACTS RELEVANT TO ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Larry J. Coet Chevrolet owned and operated the Chevrolet dealership in Heber City from 1986 until he sold it to Labrum in November of 2001. (R-674, p. 191:14-15).
2. In August 2001 Coet entered into an Asset Sale Agreement for the sale of the dealership to Danny Labrum Chevrolet. (R-674, p. 191:15-17).
3. In August 2001, Coet and Labrum executed the Asset Sale Agreement for the purchase of the dealership. (R-411-433; Plt. Ex.1).

4. On November 14, 2001, Coet and Labrum executed the Asset Sale Agreement - Closing Statement. (R- Plt. Ex. 2; R-353).

5. The Asset Sale Agreement specifically states: "In the event any action or proceeding is taken or brought by either party concerning this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its costs and reasonable attorneys' fees, whether such sums are expended with or without suit, at trial, on appeal or in any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding. Asset Sale Agreement ¶ 11.12 (R-416).

6. In the Agreement, Labrum agreed to purchase the used vehicle inventory, which includes all used motor vehicles which are in the seller's inventory at the time of closing, which vehicles have been previously titled. (R-674, p. 191:19-21).

7. Labrum also agreed to purchase Coet's parts and accessories inventory established by physical count as of the closing, excluding any and all obsolete parts. (R-674, p. 191:21-24).

8. The Agreement defined obsolete parts to mean any part not included in the manufacturer's current parts pricing catalog, any part on which the seal has been opened or is materially damaged, any part which is missing portions of its working mechanisms so that it would not be accepted for return, and parts in excess of a 180-day supply. (R-674, pp. 191:25-196:5).

9. If, after conducting the physical inventory, the value of then existing parts was less than \$68,000.00, the sale price for the dealership would be adjusted downward by the

difference between \$68,000.00 and the actual value of the parts. If the value of the parts exceeded \$68,000, there would be no adjustment. (R-674, p.192:6-11).

10. On November 12, 2001, Coet, Labrum, Lyle Labrum, and Rachel Labrum, conducted a parts inventory. (R-674, p. 194:1-8).

11. After approximately five hours, Labrum agreed that continuing the inventory would not be necessary because he was satisfied that more than \$68,000.00 in parts existed. (R-674, p. 194:16-23).

12. On November 13, 2001, following the conclusion of the physical inventories of parts, used vehicles, new vehicles, and other expenses to be satisfied by either Coet or Labrum, Coet and Labrum executed a document stating, among other things, Danny Labrum and Larry J. Coet agree that parts inventory total \$68,000.00. (R- Plt. Ex. 3; R-351).

13. On November 14, 2001, the parties met in Salt Lake City at a title company for the closing. As part of the closing both parties executed a closing statement. In the statement the parties agreed that used car inventory was valued at \$290,275. No adjustments were made for parts. (R-674, p. 195:8-13).

14. The day following the closing of the sale of the dealership, Labrum demanded, and Coet refunded to Labrum \$68,733.31, a substantial portion of which was not, in fact, owing. (R-511).

15. On November 8, 2001, less than one week before the closing, Mr. Gary Robinson purchased a new truck from Coet. The purchase included a trade of a 1991 Chevy pickup. (R-674, p. 193:4-12).

16. A week before the closing, Coet agreed to allow a customer, Johnny Jessen, to exchange his 1992 Ford pickup for the 1991 Chevy pickup Mr. Robinson was trading in and Coet agreed to pay the \$2,300 balance on the 1992 Ford pickup. (R-674, p. 193:4-12).

17. Mr. Jessen would get the 1991 Chevy pickup at the time he delivered the 1992 Ford pickup to Coet. (R-674, p. 193:13-14).

18. On November 13, 2001, at 6:00 a.m. Mr. Jessen delivered the 1992 Ford pickup to the dealership with the keys and title and drove away with Mr. Robinson's 1991 Chevy pickup. (R-674, p. 193:15-25).

19. On or about December 12, 2001, Coet issued a check for \$2,300 to pay off a lien on a certain vehicle. (R-674, p. 195:16-17). Coet testified it was for the 1992 Ford pickup truck. (R-674, pp. 41:14-42:18).

20. The 1992 Ford pickup truck was included on the used car inventory list, but Coet did not set a price for the Ford pickup, Labrum did not offer a price for the Ford pickup. Coet and Labrum did not negotiate for the 1992 Ford pickup. (R- Pl. Ex.10; R-674, pp. 39:12-25 and 40: 8-9).

21. The total of the used car inventory paid by Labrum, excluding the 1992 Ford pickup, was \$290,275. (R-674, p. 38:24 - 39:13; R-Pl. Ex. 2; R-353).

22. In January 2002 Labrum sold the 1992 Ford pickup to Carl Givens for \$5,000.00.

23. Following a year of negotiations, Coet and Labrum stipulated to having a team of accountants review and attempt to resolve accounting issues. (R-72).

24. On February 9, 2005, Coet and Labrum entered into the Letter of Understanding Concerning Evaluation of Claims (“Accountants Evaluation Agreement”). This Accountants Evaluation Agreement set forth the terms for the Accounting Team. (R-73-79).

25. On February 14, 2005, the trial court entered a Stipulated Case Management Order. The Order directed the parties to submit all of the accounting disputes, including all accounting issues raised as part of the claims or counterclaims in this lawsuit, to an accounting evaluation team (the “Accounting Team”), consistent with the terms of the parties’ letter agreement. (R-82-86).

26. On or around April 27, 2005, the Accounting Team produced its findings and provided them in letter form. The Accounting Team determined that after reviewing the used vehicle inventory, parts inventory, additional expenses agreed to at closing, interest in delayed payment on real estate and new and used vehicle flooring, wholesale cost of purchasing vehicles, new vehicle inventory and other claims, Labrum owed Coet \$59,384.79. (R-104-106).

27. On June 21, 2005, the trial court ruled that it appeared the Accounting Team was unable to resolve all accounting issues and held that the Stipulated Case Management Order was still in effect. (R-133).

28. On September 2, 2005, the trial court entered its Order Granting Labrum’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. The trial court ordered that Labrum’s Motion for

Partial Summary Judgment be granted and Plaintiffs' claims for attorneys' fees and pre-judgment interest dismissed with prejudice. (R-318-326).

29. On August 8, 2006, a bench trial was held before Judge Pullan on all remaining issues.

30. At the conclusion of the trial, the trial court announced from the bench its findings and conclusions, declaring that Coet owed Labrum \$11,455.26. (R-657).

31. The court reserved its order after the trial regarding the issue of attorney's fees to allow the parties to brief the question of who was the prevailing party "in light of prior settlements" of some claims and the court's judgment entered at the end of the trial. (R-674, p. 199:12-16).

32. In its November 1, 2006 Ruling, the trial court commented in a footnote regarding the broad applicability of the attorneys fees and costs provisions contained in the Asset Sale Agreement. The trial court commented as follows:

This provision is drafted broadly. It applies to "any action or proceeding . . . taken or brought by either Party concerning this Agreement." By using the verbs "taken" and "brought" in the alternative, the parties expanded the meaning of the term "action." Certainly civil actions "brought" by either party could give rise to an award of attorney's fees, but so could "any action taken . . . Concerning this Agreement . . . whether [the fees] are expended with or without trial."

Here, the parties resolved the bulk of their claims without trial by submitting them to the evaluation team. That method of settlement – during the course of which both parties incurred attorney's fees – constituted an action taken by the parties concerning the Agreement. Absent the release and waiver in the Letter Agreement, the prevailing party as determined by the evaluation team was entitled to recover its costs and attorney's fees.

(R-639).

33. On November 1, 2006, the trial court entered its Ruling, finding that Labrum was the prevailing party based upon Labrum prevailing on all litigated claims and awarded Labrum his attorneys' fees and costs. (R-634-641).

34. On or about December 1, 2006, in the Judgment and Order signed by the trial court, Coet's claims were dismissed in their entirety, with prejudice. Labrum was awarded Judgment against Coet in the amount of \$40,005.26 together with interest. The Judgment \$11,455.26 for claims Labrum made against Coet and \$28,550.00 for Labrum's attorneys' fees awarded as the prevailing party. (R-657).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On January 20, 2005, in order to expedite a resolution to some of the disputed claims between Coet and Labrum, the parties (under supervision of the court in the telephonic Scheduling Conference) stipulated to present all the accounting claims to the Accounting Team. The Accounting Team would attempt to resolve all of the accounting issues. On February 10, 2005, the parties signed and executed the Accountants Evaluation Agreement delineating the terms of the agreement and instructions for the accountants. It also set out the specific accounting claims for the Accounting Team to address. After the signing of the Accountants Evaluation Agreement, Defendant prepared the Stipulated Case Management Order. Both parties agreed to the Order and it was signed on February 14, 2005.

The Order supported and clarified the Accountants Evaluation Agreement by repeating the specifics of the narrow scope, role, and purpose of the Accounting Team, as well as, the claims affected by the release. The Accounting Team's role was limited to reviewing only

the specific accounting issues it could unanimously agree upon, and left the unresolved accounting issues and all legal issues for resolution by the trial court. The Accountants Evaluation Agreement did not release any legal claims. As such, any and all legal claims have not been waived.

The telephonic Scheduling Hearing, Stipulated Case Management Order and Accountants Evaluation Agreement all provided authority and context for the Accounting Team to resolve accounting issues the best it could. Neither the parties nor the trial court, wanted nor expected, the Accounting Team to determine legal issues, such as attorneys' fees, pre-judgment interest and prevailing party status. The trial court erred in allowing itself to be convinced to misapply the release of claim language and by ceding its powers to the Accounting Team, instead of harmonizing the language to the topic of the Accountants Evaluation Agreement with the conflicting terms and language. Only a court can determine if attorneys' fees are to be awarded and its amount. Only a court can determine if pre-judgment interest is awarded and the amount. Only a court can determine which litigant is the prevailing party.

Additionally, the trial court erred in identifying Labrum as the prevailing party in the matter. While determining the prevailing party may be complicated and tap the equitable powers of the court, it is important that the court make the determination which fulfills the parties' written agreement, is the equitable conclusion, and does not destroy public policy by encouraging litigants who have a strong case to refuse alternative dispute resolution methods for fear of forfeiting an award of attorneys' fees and interest.

The trial court also erred when it found that Labrum relied upon Coet's comment regarding the obsolete parts inventory. Standing alone, Coet's comments did not meet the elements of fraud, nor its standard of proof. Importantly, Labrum had the duty to use due diligence and inspect the parts inventory. It was Labrum's decision and his alone, that stopped the parts inventory inspection short of completion. It was Labrum who declared that he was satisfied the parts inventory met or exceeded \$68,000.00. It was Labrum who executed two different documents demonstrating his satisfaction that the parts inventory met or exceeded \$68,000.00.

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