2007

# Larry J. Coet Chevrolet, Pontiac, Buick, Inc. v. Labrum Chevrolet, Pontiac, Buick, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

In addition, the parties specifically and expressly reserved only one legal issue from the effect of the release language, namely the legal issues surrounding Labrum's Obsolete Parts claim. [See R. 74-76, 78, Resolution Agreement §§ 2.b, 3, 9.] The express reservation of this particular claim by implication excludes the reservation of all other claims, including

Coet's claims for attorney fees and interest. This long-accepted doctrine of contract and statutory interpretation is expressed in Latin by the legal maxim "*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*"—the expression of the one is the exclusion of the other. *See generally* 5 Margaret N. Kniffin, *Corbin on Contracts* 315-16, § 24.28 (1998).

Extrinsic evidence can also be used to determine whether a contract is ambiguous. *Nielsen v. Gold's Gym*, 2003 UT 37, ¶ 7, 78 P.3d 600 ("When determining whether a contract term is ambiguous, the court is not limited to the contract itself."). "Relevant, extrinsic evidence 'of the facts known to the parties at the time they entered the [contract]' is admissible to assist the court in determining whether the contract is ambiguous." *Id.* (quoting *Yeargin, Inc. v. Auditing Div. of Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 2001 UT 11, ¶ 39, 20 P.3d 287).

Considering the circumstances under which the Resolution Agreement was negotiated and signed, it is even more clear that all claims, including claims for attorney fees, costs, and interest were validly released according to the terms of the Resolution Agreement. For example, by email letter dated May 12, 2004 counsel for Labrum specifically informed Coet that Labrum's intent in negotiating the terms of the Resolution Agreement was to require "both parties to get everything on the table and resolved." [R. 263.] Moreover, Labrum's counsel stated that "[i]f we are going to proceed, everything needs to be put on the table and addressed or waived. The agreement I have drafted lists our issues, requires payment according to the unanimous findings of the accountants, and provides for a release of all other claims by both sides (except for certain issues related to parts obsolescence and any issue with respect to which there is not a unanimous decision by the accountants)." [R. 263.]

There can be no dispute that the intent and language of the Resolution Agreement required both parties to identify and include “all” of their respective claims and counterclaims in the Resolution Agreement. By express language of the Agreement, all other claims were released and waived.

**C. As a Matter of Law, Claims that Are Not Expressly Preserved in a Settlement Agreement Are Waived.**

The Resolution Agreement was in fact a type of settlement agreement. By that Agreement, the parties voluntarily settled claims by submitting them to the Evaluation Team for consideration, and agreeing to abide by the Evaluation Team’s conclusions.

There are many cases holding that a settling party waives any claims not expressly preserved in a settlement agreement. For example, in *Krumme v. Westpoint Stevens, Inc.*, 238 F.3d 133 (2d Cir. 2000), ten company executives participated in an Executive Permanent Insurance (“EPI”) Program. The EPI included a deferred compensation agreement that allowed them to annually receive 30% of their final base salary after retirement. The EPI agreement contained a fee-shifting provision that required the employer to pay the executives’ attorney fees in case of dispute. 238 F.3d at 135-36. A dispute arose after a hostile takeover of the company. Nine of the executives opted to receive a lump sum payment and signed a release of “all obligations,” effective upon acceptance of the lump sum payments. The payments were subsequently made. The executives then sued, seeking (among other things) recovery of their substantial attorney fees pursuant to the EPI agreement. *Id.* at 136-37. The court held that a broad, general release automatically includes



a release of any obligation to pay attorney fees unless those fees are specifically and expressly excepted from the release. *Id.* at 145. Because attorney fees were not expressly reserved in the release, the executives' claims were barred. *Id.*; *see also Estate of Givens*, 938 S.W.2d 679, 681-82 (Mo. Ct. App. 1997) (holding language in release such as “from any and all liability,” “of whatever name or nature,” and “any other matter whatsoever involving my relationship with [the Bank]” unambiguously included release of attorney fees); *Jana-Rock Constr., Inc. v. New York State Dept. Transp.*, 699 N.Y.S.2d 528, 529 (N.Y. S. Ct. App. Div. 1999) (holding release unambiguously included release of interest on settlement amount, notwithstanding reference to a future claim proceeding); *Adams v. American Int’l Group, Inc.*, 791 N.E.2d 26, 32 (Ill. Ct. App. 2003) (holding release of “any and all claims” unambiguously included release of claims for pre-judgment interest).

In this case, the release unambiguously covers “any and all claims” of “whatever nature” including “all claims that relate in any way to the lawsuit” and “any claims asserted or that could have been asserted” in the lawsuit. The release carves out specific narrow exceptions to the release, namely, claims as to which there is not a unanimous decision by the Evaluation Team and legal issues relating to the claim for Obsolete Parts. The release contains no exception for attorney fees or interest. Those claims therefore fall within the expressed release provisions of the Resolution Agreement.

**D. The Resolution Agreement Terms Were Not Conflicting.**

Coet concedes on appeal that the Resolution Agreement is clear and unambiguous. *See* Coet's Brief, p. 16. In a somewhat contradictory turn, Coet does argue that the Resolution Agreement has conflicting provisions. *See* Coet's Brief, pp. 17-20. Coet states:

The [Resolution] Agreement did not appear to be ambiguous, but contained provisions which conflicted, or were not in harmony, with other more specific terms. . . . Admittedly, when viewed in isolation, Paragraph Nine's [of the Resolution Agreement] plain language may lead to the conclusion that Coet's claim for attorneys' fees and pre-judgment interest, as provided in the Asset Sale Agreement may have been waived or released. On its face the [Resolution] Agreement appears to limit Coet's claims. However, if the Court considers all four corners of the [Resolution] Agreement, the Court will be able to harmonize the facially conflicting terms.

Coet's Brief, pp. 17-18.

Coet fails to identify *any* term of the Resolution Agreement that is inconsistent with the broad release provisions of Paragraph 9, making it difficult to comprehend how the Resolution Agreement is allegedly in conflict with itself. It may be that Coet argues the broad release provision in Paragraph 9 of the Resolution Agreement is in conflict with the attorney fee provision of the Asset Sale Agreement. *See* Coet's Brief, p. 18. If that is Coet's claim, then it fails to follow a reasonable line of logic. The very purpose of the Resolution Agreement was to address and attempt to resolve all claims asserted under the Asset Sale Agreement, including any claim for attorney fees. The parties agreed to: 1) identify all claims and include them in the Resolution Agreement; 2) have the Evaluation Team address all of the parties' claims, save only the legal issue of liability for Obsolete Parts; 3) be bound by the Evaluation Team's unanimous conclusions; 4) fully release "any and all claims" "of

whatever nature” upon payment of sums found be owed, save only those claims specifically excepted from the release language. There is no logical argument that the broad release language of the Resolution Agreement is somehow inconsistent with the attorney fee provision of the Asset Sale Agreement.

Coet may also be arguing that Paragraph 9 of the Resolution Agreement is inconsistent with other terms of the Agreement that refer to “accounting” issues. *See* Coet’s Brief, p. 19. Coet’s argument is not entirely clear on this point, either. It is clear, however, that Labrum insisted that “everything needs to be put on the table and addressed or waived” [R. 263], and that the parties mutually agreed the very purpose of the Resolution Agreement was to resolv[e] all of the respective claims between the parties.” [R. 76.] It just so happens that the only “non-accounting” issue submitted by either party was the issue of whether Coet was legally liable for fraud or misrepresentation. That issue was expressly excepted from the broad release provisions of Paragraph 9 and in other places in the Resolution Agreement. [R. 74, 76.]

**E. The Stipulated Case Management Order Has No Bearing on Whether Coet Waived its Claims for Attorney Fees and Interest.**

Coet relies heavily on the Stipulated Case Management Order (“CMO”) and Coet’s accompanying, but untrue, arguments that the Trial Court ordered, directed and supervised the Evaluation and ceded its legal authority to the Evaluation Team. These arguments fail.

Coet repeatedly argues, for some unclear reason, that the Trial Court ordered, directed and supervised the Evaluation process. That simply is not true. The CMO, by which the

Court adopted the parties' Resolution Agreement, was a stipulated document. This is demonstrated by its title— "Stipulated Case Management Order"—and the signatures of both counsel immediately prior to the Court's signature. Moreover, the record demonstrates that the Resolution Agreement was the parties' agreement, negotiated and drafted by the parties for many months prior to any involvement by the Trial Court. [See R. 219-269.] The fact is that the Court accommodated the parties' agreement to submit their claims to the Evaluation Team, but it certainly did not require it, beyond approving the parties' stipulated order. And there is absolutely no evidence in the record to support the untrue statement that the Trial Court "directed, ordered, and supervised" the Evaluation in this case. See Coet's Brief, pp. 33, 35. Coet's repeated reliance on the suggestion that the Court ordered and supervised the Evaluation is badly misplaced.

More importantly, the CMO specifically provided that the parties would submit their claims "consistent with the parties' letter agreement, a copy of which is attached [to this CMO] as Exhibit A." [R. 85.] Thus, the CMO specifically deferred to the specific, governing language of the Resolution Agreement. As a matter of law, the CMO could not, and did not, resurrect fee and interest claims that were released pursuant to broad release provisions of Paragraph 9 of the Resolution Agreement.

To the extent public policy comes into play in this case, it strongly supports Labrum's position. Litigants should be encouraged to resolve cases through alternative dispute resolution mechanisms, and to resolve them to finality. In a case where the parties agreed to put all their issues on the table so that everything could be resolved, and agreed to release

and waive everything else, it would be extremely unfair to allow one of the parties to subsequently return to the well and seek additional recovery on claims that were never asserted during the alternative dispute resolution process. If this were allowed, subsequent litigants would be strongly discouraged from engaging in alternative dispute resolution, because there would be little hope of finality in any such process.

Finally, contrary to Coet's arguments, the Trial Court did not cede anything—legal authority or otherwise—to the Evaluation Team. The parties, both represented by counsel, voluntarily agreed to submit all of their claims to the Evaluation Team, save only the legal issue of fraud or misrepresentation in connection with Obsolete Parts. It was by the parties' expressed agreement, not court-ceded authority to decide legal issues, that all other claims and issues were submitted to the Evaluation Team. It was by a clear and unambiguous agreement of the parties that they had to either identify their claims in the Resolution Agreement or expressly waive and release them.

Coet failed to include its alleged claims for attorney fees and interest anywhere in the Resolution Agreement. Labrum entered into the Resolution Agreement with the expressed expectation that all of the parties' claims would be listed and evaluated by the Evaluation Team, and that upon payment of amounts owed as determined by the Evaluation Team, "any and all" claims of "whatsoever nature" would be released, except those claims expressly reserved. Labrum sought to preclude the assertion of new and never-ending additional claims by getting everything on the table and resolved once and for all. That is what the parties bargained for and that is what the parties should get.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT WAS WELL WITHIN ITS DISCRETION TO DETERMINE THAT LABRUM WAS THE PREVAILING PARTY AT TRIAL AND ENTITLED TO RECOVER ITS FEES.**

The question of whether a party is the “prevailing party” for purposes of an attorney fee award is left to the sound discretion of the Trial Court. *See Carlson Distr. Co. v. Salt Lake Brewing Co.*, 2004 UT App. 227, ¶ 16, 95 P.3d 1171. The Trial Court’s determination is reviewed only for an “abuse of discretion.” *Id.*

A “good starting point” for determining “prevailing party” status is the net judgment rule. *Occidental/Nebraska Fed. Sav. Bank v. Mehr*, 791 P.2d 217, 221 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). However, trial courts also use a “flexible and reasoned approach,” recognizing that “mechanical application of . . . the net judgment rule could create absurd results.” *A.K.&R. Whipple Plumbing and Heating v. Guy*, 2004 UT 47, ¶ 11, 94 P.3d 270.

The Trial Court was well within its discretion when it denied Coet’s claim for all attorney fees and granted Labrum’s claim for fees incurred after the May 13, 2005 release date. Labrum’s May 13 payment effected a general release of all of Coet’s claims, including a full release of any past claim for attorney fees. Coet’s payment did not end this case, however. Even after May 13, Coet continued to assert two claims related to the Asset Sale Agreement, namely, its claim for payment for the 1992 Ford truck and its claim for payment for oil and gas inventories. As a result, Labrum was forced to incur additional attorney fees after May 13 to defend itself against Coet’s claims and to assert its own claims.

Thus, the only relevant question is: who is the prevailing party and therefore entitled to recover attorney fees and costs with respect to claims asserted after May 13, 2005? It is

beyond dispute that Labrum was the prevailing party on all of those claims. All of Coet's remaining claims against Labrum for breach of the Asset Sale Agreement were dismissed at the trial. Labrum was awarded \$11,455.26 on its counterclaim.

Labrum's position on this issue is consistent with the letter and spirit of both the Asset Sale Agreement and the Resolution Agreement. The Asset Sale Agreement provided that the prevailing party in any proceeding concerning the Asset Sale Agreement would be entitled to recover attorney fees. [R. 416.] The Resolution Agreement acted as a partial modification, or partial accord and satisfaction, of the Asset Sale Agreement. The Resolution Agreement, together with Labrum's payment of the sums found owing by the Evaluation Team, effected a full release and satisfaction of all claims that existed as of May 13, 2005, save only those claims specifically excepted from the release. [R. 74-75.] After May 13, 2005, Coet continued to pursue claims for breach of the Asset Sale Agreement on two issues. By doing so, Coet forced Labrum to incur additional attorney fees after May 13, 2005, giving rise to a *new* claim for attorney fees under Section 11.10 of the Asset Sale Agreement. The Trial Court was well within its discretion in awarding these fees to Labrum, because it is undisputed that Labrum is the prevailing party on these claims.

It is important to emphasize that Labrum did not claim, and was not awarded, any fees or costs incurred prior to May 13, 2005. Labrum acknowledged in the Trial Court that, along with Coet, Labrum had waived and released any claim for attorney fees incurred prior to May 13, 2005. The Trial Court awarded to Labrum only those fees Labrum incurred *after* May 13, 2005. Because Coet forced Labrum to incur those fees on minor claims on which Coet

ultimately lost, the Trial Court was well within its discretion when it determined Labrum was the prevailing party and was entitled to recover fees after the effective date of the release.

Coet's policy argument that settlement agreements should be considered in determining "prevailing party" status should not apply in this case, because Coet expressly waived its claim for attorney fees and interest as part of the settlement. Coet cannot make any policy argument or cite to any authority to support the argument that a litigant who waives its claims for attorney fees as part of a settlement should be subsequently awarded its fees because it "prevailed" in the settlement it obtained. Moreover, as the Trial Court correctly noted, the reasons litigants settle cases involve many diverse motives, making it extremely unworkable for Trial Courts to try to figure out who "prevailed" in a negotiated settlement. *See* R. 636.

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